Supreme Court of Florida

THURSDAY, JANUARY 27, 1994

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

VS.

Case No. 82,699

JOSE ALVAREZ

Respondent.

* * * * * * * * * * *

Motion to Adopt Brief of Petitioner in <u>State v. Summers</u>, No. 82,632 is granted. The motion and brief as been filed with the Court.

A TRUE COPY

TEST:

BDM

c: Ms. Brenda S. Taylor
 Mr. Timothy Ferreri

Sid J. White Clerk Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 82,632 2dDCA# 91-03686

CHRISTOPHER GENE SUMMERS,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DALE E. TARPLEY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0872921

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, the State of Florida, seeks review of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal filed October 1, 1993 in which the court certified the following question:

MUST A TRIAL COURT, UPON REVOCATION OF PROBATION, CREDIT PREVIOUS TIME SERVED ON PROBATION TOWARD ANY NEWLY-IMPOSED TERM OF PROBATION SO THAT THE TOTAL PROBATIONARY TERM IS SUBJECT TO THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM FOR A SINGLE OFFENSE?

This Honorable Court has jurisdiction pursuant to article V, §3(b)(4), Florida Constitution. This court has postponed its decision on jurisdiction and has directed petitioner to serve the merits brief on or before January 3, 1994.

The essential facts of the case are summarized in the Second District's opinion. See Summers v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D2154, D2155 (Fla. 2d DCA, Oct. 1, 1993). The respondent was placed on probation in cases 88-7827 and 88-14789. On February 28, 1989 the court revoked respondent's probation in cases 88-7827 and 88-14789. In case 88-14789 respondent was sentenced to eighteen (18) months imprisonment for burglary of a conveyance and five (5) years probation for the dealing in stolen property charge. (R. 79) In case 88-7827 the respondent was given five

In case 88-7827 the respondent was charged with dealing in stolen property. (R. 5,6) In case 88-14789 he was charged with burglary of a conveyance, grand theft, and dealing in stolen property. (R. 58, 59) The respondent was sentenced after entering guilty pleas in each case. (R. 10,11,15,16,62,63,65)

(5) years probation consecutive to the prison sentence in case 88-14789 but concurrent with the probation in that case. (R. 29)

On June 5, 1990 the respondent was charged with burglary, petit theft, and dealing in stolen property in case 90-7880. (R. 116,118) On June 19, 1990 the respondent pled guilty to these charges and was sentenced to three and one half (3½) years prison for burglary and probation for the dealing in stolen property. (R. 122,124) As a result of the new offenses in case 90-7880 the circuit court modified the respondent's probation in cases 88-7827 and 88-14789. In case number 88-7827 the respondent was sentenced to three (3) years probation; in case number 88-14789 the respondent was sentenced to three (3) years probation for the dealing in stolen property charge. (R. 38, 93-94)

On July 2, 1990 the respondent was charged with burglary of a dwelling and grand theft in case number 90-10338. (R. 141,142) On July 18, 1990 the respondent entered guilty pleas to both charges. (R. 148) In that case respondent was placed on probation as a habitual felony offender. (R. 144,149) On July 24, 1991 the respondent was again charged with grand theft in case 91-8844. (R. 171-172) As a result of the new charges, affidavits of violation of probation were filed in cases 88-7827, 88-14789, 90-7880 and 90-10338. (R. 45, 99, 131, 154) On October 16, 1991 a hearing on the violations of probation was held. (R. 194)

Ultimately, the trial court found the respondent guilty of violating probation. (R. 205) In case number 90-10338 the

respondent was sentenced to thirty (30) years imprisonment for burglary of dwelling and ten (10) years imprisonment, consecutive to the thirty (30) years, for the grand theft charge. Each of the sentences were imposed under the habitual felony offender statute. (R. 205)

In case number 90-7880 the respondent was sentenced to fifteen (15) years probation on the dealing in stolen property charge; in case 88-7827 the respondent was sentenced to fifteen (15) years probation on an additional dealing in stolen property charge; in case 88-14789 the respondent was sentenced to fifteen (15) on yet another dealing in stolen property charge. The terms of probation run concurrently with each other but consecutive to the prison sentences.

On appeal to the Second District the respondent challenged his probationary sentences. He argued that the three concurrent probationary terms of fifteen (15) years each should not have been imposed since these additional fifteen (15) year probationary terms exceed the statutory maximum when added to the time he has previously served on probation. The Second District agreed with the respondent. In an en banc opinion the court reversed and remanded for resentencing, ordering the trial court to allow the respondent credit for time previously served on probation toward the most recently imposed probationary terms for the same offense. The Second District then certified the question of great public importance currently under review in this court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The state submits that the majority in the lower court is in error; the correct analysis is contained in the dissenting opinion of Judge Schoonover. The controlling statute provides that upon revocation of probation, the sentencing judge may impose any sentence that might originally have been imposed. In <u>Poore v</u>.

State, infra, the court stated that when probation is revoked the court may impose any sentence that might originally have been imposed with credit for time served and subject to the guidelines recommendation.

Credit for time served is inappropriate since probation is not a sentence. The legislature knew of the distinction between probation and a sentence when it enacted the statute. Legislative intent is determined by the plain language of a statute. Under the plain language of section 948.06 (1) the trial court is required to impose any sentence which might originally have been imposed. Credit is given for a sentence since the purpose is punishment; it is withheld for probation because the purpose is rehabilitation. Furthermore, it is legislative policy to limit incarceration as a sentencing alternative to those with convictions for serious offenses and longer criminal histories. A court has the discretion to revoke and impose another term of probation if that is the better sentencing alternative.

One who cannot successfully complete probation is not rehabilitated because probation is a minimal sanction. Finally, the

denial of credit for time spent on probation is supported by the court's decisions in <u>State v. Perko</u>, <u>infra</u>, <u>Williams v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, and <u>Fraser v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>. The certified question should be answered in the negative.

ARGUMENT

A TRIAL COURT IS NOT REQUIRED TO CREDIT PRE-VIOUS TIME SERVED ON PROBATION FOLLOWING RE-VOCATION AND RE-IMPOSITION OF PROBATION BE-CAUSE PROBATION IS NOT A "SENTENCE" BUT THE GRACE OF THE STATE FOR THE PURPOSE OF REHAB-ILITATION RATHER THAN PUNISHMENT; THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE REQUIRES THE TRIAL JUDGE TO REIMPOSE ANY SENTENCE THAT MIGHT ORIGINALLY HAVE BEEN IMPOSED WITHOUT CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED ON PROBATION.

The Second District decided the instant case en banc in order to resolve intradistrict conflict between Servis v. State, 588 So. 2d 290 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) and Smith v. State, 463 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). The effect of the decision in Servis was to give the defendant credit for time he had already served on probation; the effect of the decision in Smith was to disregard the statutory maximum in cases where probation is imposed, revoked, and imposed again. In a sharply divided six to five opinion, the lower court agreed that upon revocation of probation a trial court may impose any sentence that could originally be imposed. The majority, however, construed State v. Holmes, 360 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1978) and Snead v. State, 616 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 1993) as requiring that a trial court which imposes further probation following a revocation credit that defendant's previous probationary time.

The state submits that the majority view is error; the correct analysis is contained in the dissenting opinion of Judge Schoonover. According to the dissent, <u>Smith</u> was controlling and should have been followed. Section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes (1987) clearly states:

If probation or community control is revoked, the court shall adjudge the probationer or offender guilty of the offense charged and proven or admitted, unless he has previously been adjudged guilty, and impose any sentence which it might have originally imposed before placing the probationer on probation or the offender in community control.

Section two (2) of the statute further provides that "[n]o part of the time that the defendant is on probation or in community control shall be considered as any part of time that he shall be sentenced to serve."

The effect, then, of a revocation of probation is to place a defendant nunc pro tunc to the time of his or her original sentencing. Florida courts generally have not given defendants credit for time served on probation when resentencing following a violation of probation. In Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988) the court discussed the various sentencing alternatives in Florida and the trial court's option upon resentencing:

Thus, we conclude that a judge has five basic sentencing alternatives in a period of confinement; Florida: (2) a "true split sentence" consisting of a total period of confinement with a portion of the confinement suspended and the defendant placed on probation for that suspended portion; (3) a "probationary split sentence" consisting of a period of confinement, none of which is suspended, followed by a period of probation; (4) a Villery sentence, consisting of period of probation preceded by a period of confinement imposed as a special condition; and (5) straight probation.

If the defendant violates his probation in alternatives (3), (4) and

(5) section 948.06(1) and Pearce permit the sentencing judge to impose any sentence he or she originally might have imposed, with credit for time served and subject to the guidelines recommendation. (e.s.)

531 So. 2d at 164. See also Franklin v. State, 545 So. 2d 851 (Fla. 1989); State v. Holmes, 360 So. 2d 380, 383 (Fla. 1978); Priest v. State, 603 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); Ramey v. State, 546 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Quincutti v. State, 540 So. 2d 900 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); Pendergrass v. State, 487 So. 2d 35 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Thus, credit for time served does not include time spent on probation.

This view is supported by the court's decision in <u>Pennington</u>
v. State, 398 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1981) where the court held that it
was not a denial of equal protection or double jeopardy
guarantees to deny a defendant credit for time served in a drug
rehabilitation center as a condition of probation upon revocation
of probation.

Furthermore, credit for time served on probation is inappropriate since probation is not a sentence. As recognized in <u>Villery v. Florida Parole & Probation Comm'n</u>, 396 So. 2d 1107, 1110 (Fla. 1980), two basic alternatives are available to the trial judge at the time of sentencing. He may either sentence the defendant or place him on probation. The term "sentence" is defined in rule 3.700 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure as "the pronouncement by the court of the penalty imposed upon a defendant for the offense of which he has been adjudged guilty."

Generally, a fine or a sentence of imprisonment or both is the "penalty" which may be imposed. Villery 396 So. 2d at 1110.

Rule 3.790(a) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure states that the pronouncement and imposition of a <u>sentence</u> of imprisonment shall not be made upon a defendant who is placed on probation regardless of whether he is adjudicated guilty. As the committee note to the rule comments:

A probationary period is not a sentence, and any procedure that tends to mix them is undesirable, even if this mixture is accomplished by nothing more than the terminology used by the trial court in its desire to place a person on probation. See sections 948.04 and 948.06(1), Florida Statutes, in which clear distinctions are drawn between the period of a sentence and the period of probation.

This rule is consistent with section 948.01(3), Florida Statutes (1989) which requires the court to stay and withhold the imposition of a sentence when placing a defendant on probation. Only after probation is revoked may pronouncement and imposition of a sentence be made upon the defendant. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.790(b).

It must be assumed that the legislature knew of the distinction between probation and a sentence at the time it enacted section 948.06 because the legislature is presumed to know existing law at the time it enacts a statute. Hollar v.

International Bankers Ins. Co., 572 So. 2d 937 (3rd DCA), review dismissed, 582 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1991); Opperman v. Nationwide

Mutual Fire Ins. Co., 515 So. 2d 263 (5th DCA), review denied,

523 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1988). Moreover, legislative intent controls the construction of statutes, and that intent is determined primarily from the language of the statute; the plain meaning of the language is the first consideration and, when that language is clear and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rule of statutory construction. Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984); Opperman, 515 So. 2d at 266 n.4. Upon revocation of probation section 948.06(1) requires the court to impose any sentence which it might have originally imposed before placing the probationer on probation. Subsection (2) further provides that no part of the time that a defendant is on probation shall be considered as any part of the time to serve upon resentencing.

The withholding of credit for time served on probation comports with the differing policies underlying probation in contrast to sentencing. The concept of probation is rehabilitation rather than punishment. (e.s.) Berhardt v. State, 288 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 1974). As the court stated in Loeb v. State, 387 So. 2d 433, 436 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980) "[a]n order granting probation is not a sentence; it is the grace of the state, in lieu of the sentence, granted in hopeful anticipation of the defendant's rehabilitation." See also Addison v. State, 452 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). In contrast, the Florida sentencing guidelines provide that the primary purpose of sentencing is to punish the offender. Rehabilitation is a desired goal but assumes a subordinate role. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701.

Criminal procedure rule 3.701 further provides that the use of incarcerative sanctions should be limited to those persons convicted of more serious offenses or those who have longer criminal histories. Therefore, the rule provides that the sanctions used in sentencing convicted felons be the least restrictive necessary to achieve the purposes of the sentence. Considering the legislative policy favoring the withholding of imprisonment when it is inappropriate in light of the ends of justice and the welfare of society, and the clear language of the statute, it is only logical to conclude that a sentencing court has the discretion to revoke a probationary sentence and reimpose another sentence of probation if the court determines that another term of probation is the better sentencing alternative.

See State v. Viloria, 759 P. 2d 1376 (Hawaii 1988).

The emphasis of further probation is appropriate since a defendant that is not capable of successfully completing a term of probation cannot be said to be rehabilitated. As Judge Peterson pointed out in <u>Ford v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 946, 947 (5th DCA 1990), <u>disapproved on other grounds</u>, 622 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1993) "... conditions of probation are usually no more burdensome than those conditions which law-abiding citizens customarily and routinely live with in their walks through life." It is consistent with the goal of rehabilitation then, that defendants not be awarded credit for an unsuccessful probation following a revocation.

- 11 -

The state submits that the <u>Summers</u> majority misreads <u>Holmes</u>. <u>Holmes</u> provides that the combined period of a split sentence at the time of the <u>original</u> sentence cannot exceed the maximum period of incarceration provided by statute for the offense charged. <u>Holmes</u> further provides that upon revocation of probation, the trial judge may impose any sentence which could originally be imposed <u>minus</u> jail time previously served as part of the sentence. <u>Id.</u> at 383. The state interprets <u>Holmes</u> to mean that upon revocation of a probationary split sentence, a <u>Villery</u> sentence, or straight probation, the trial court may impose any sentence which it might have originally imposed without credit for time spent on probation.

The guidelines analysis presented by the <u>Summers</u> majority is inconsistent with the purpose of probation, i.e., rehabilitation. Both <u>Holmes</u> and section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes, plainly state that a defendant is entitled to no credit for time served on probation. The state fails to see how the majority result advances the uniformity and consistency of criminal sentencing in the state. All criminal defendants are on constructive notice that a violation of probation will subject them to the imposition of any sentence which could originally have been imposed. Under the majority analysis defendants could violate probation repeatedly with the knowledge that further probation would be limited by the time previously served on probation. Allowing credit for time spent on probation would also interfere with the state policy of restitution for crime victims. <u>Summers</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D2157.

- 12 -

In <u>State v. Perko</u>, 588 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1991) the defendant was given a split sentence of incarceration followed by probation for grand theft auto. Upon his release from prison the defendant committed a drug related offense, violating the terms of his probation. When sentencing for the new drug offense, the trial court declined to give the defendant credit for time served and gain time accrued while he was incarcerated for the grand theft offense. However, the Fourth District reversed and ordered that the defendant be given the credit he requested relying on <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 491 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1986) and <u>State v. Green</u>, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989).

On review, the <u>Perko</u> court per Justice Kogan distinguished <u>Daniels</u> and <u>Green</u> commenting:

... we know of no law that requires the state to reward defendants for the length of their prison records. Here, the opinion of the district court resulted in Perko being rewarded with a reduced sentence on the new drug offense solely because he previously had committed a grand theft. Presumably Perko would have received a greater sentence had his criminal record been unblemished. This is not the law.

588 So. 2d at 982. As in <u>Perko</u>, there is no law that requires a trial court to reward defendants who violate probation by giving them credit for time served. Only the prospect of receiving any sentence which could originally be imposed provides incentive to rehabilitate and make restitution.

In <u>Williams v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1992) the court expressed sensitivity to the dilemma faced by trial judges in cases of multiple violations of probation:

- 13 -

Here we have the problem of the multiple probation violator for whom there is no longer any consequence or remedy for further probation violations. Niehenke had already served all of the time permitted under the sentencing guidelines (including the one-cell bump-up).... Although violation of probation is not an independent offense punishable at law in Florida surely neither the Florida Supreme Court nor the legislature, by adopting the guidelines, intended to abolish it as a practical matter. Yet if multiple probation violators are confined to the one-cell bump-up that is precisely what has happened. The trial courts will have lost any power to enforce conditions of probation. This is an area drastically in need of clarification.

Id. at 274 (quoting Niehenke v. State, 561 So. 2d 1218 (5th DCA 1990), quashed on other grounds, 594 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1991), Sharpe, J. dissenting). The Williams court per Justice Grimes held that where there are multiple violations of probation the sentences may be successively bumped to one higher guideline cell for each violation. The court felt that to hold otherwise might discourage judges from giving probationers a second or third chance. Id. at 275.

The <u>Williams</u> court appropriately recognized that defendants who violate probation can expect to be penalized for failing to take advantage of the opportunity. More recently, in <u>Fraser v. State</u>, 602 So. 2d 1299 (Fla. 1992) the court addressed the question of credit for time served on community control. In <u>Fraser</u>, the defendant pled guilty to unarmed robbery and auto theft. The court imposed concurrent five (5) year sentences for

the auto theft conviction and five and one half (5½) years imprisonment on the robbery conviction. The court suspended the sentences and placed the defendant on community control for five (5) years and seven (7) years which represented a downward departure from the sentencing guidelines. Id. at 1299.

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