Supreme Court of Florida

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 17, 1994

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

Case No. 82,699

JOSE ALVAREZ

vs.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The question of whether or not a defendant must be given credit for previous time served on probation when he has had his probation violated and re-imposed can be found in the clear statutory language of section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes (1987), which states that upon a violation of probation a trial court can impose any <u>sentence</u> it might have originally imposed prior to placing the defendant on probation. Since "sentence" is not probation, the legislature clearly meant a prison term and did not intend to include probation. Contrary to the State's position, section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes (1987), is not as broad as the State would have this Court believe; section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes (1987), does not allow the trial court to place a defendant on probation at the very beginning each time the defendant violates probation without giving credit for the prior probation time served. Case law is consistent with Respondent's position in that references to imposing any sentence that might have originally been imposed clearly refer to prison sentences-prison sentences for which no credit may be given for the previous time spent on probation.

If the statutory language is not clear or is susceptible of alternative meanings, then rules of statutory construction must be applied: Statutes pertaining to a common theme must be read together and construed to a common sense conclusion. In this case the legislature has set forth statutory maximums for criminal offenses which have been held applicable to probationary terms. A

common sense conclusion is that probation cannot be re-imposed <u>ad</u> <u>infinitum</u> beyond the statutory maximum sentence each time probation is revoked.

In addition to the above issue, Mr. Summers raises other issues: The evidence established only that Summers was present at the crime scene. His codefendant testified that Summers did not sell the jewelry. The evidence did not establish that Summers participated or intended to participate in the crime. Accordingly, probation should not have been revoked, and a judgment should not have been entered for the new substantive offense. Also, parts of sentences for some offenses have repeatedly been placed in the middle of sentences for other offenses. This sentencing pattern violated the rule against intermittent sentences.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

MUST A TRIAL COURT, UPON REVOCATION OF PROBATION, CREDIT PREVIOUS TIME SERVED ON PROBATION TOWARD ANY NEW-LY-IMPOSED TERM OF PROBATION SO THAT THE TOTAL PROBATIONARY TERM IS SUB-JECT TO THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM FOR A SINGLE OFFENSE? (THE CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL)

Contrary to the State's position, Respondent contends the Second District Court of Appeal was correct to answer the abovestated question in the affirmative. Respondent would point out that the Second District Court of Appeal is not alone in this The First District Court of Appeal has also so held in opinion. Blackburn v. State, 468 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); and more recently in Moore v. State, 623 So. 2d 795 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) .- The Fourth District Court of Appeal has so held in Schertz v. State, 387 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). Both the Second District Court of Appeal and First District Court of Appeal refer to the Fifth District Court of Appeal case of Ogden v. State, 605 So. 2d 155 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), in their decisions allowing for credit for prior probationary terms; and on the face of Ogden, it would appear that the Fifth District Court of Appeal has also aligned itself with the Second District Court of Appeal and First District Court of Appeal:

> We held in <u>Kolovrat</u> that the period of probation could not be extended beyond five years, the statutory maximum. <u>Accord Blackburn v.</u> <u>State</u>, 468 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985);

<u>Watts v. State</u>, 328 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). Otherwise, probation and likewise community control could be extended by a court <u>ad infinitum</u> beyond the statutory maximum incarceration each time probation or community control is revoked. We doubt the legislature intended such a result.

Oqden, 605 So. 2d at 158. However, the Fifth District's earlier decision in Ramey v. State, 546 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), which the Fifth District tried to harmonize with Ogden and Kolovrat v. State, 574 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), on a factual basis, is not a decision that can be harmonized with some of the Second District Court of Appeal's decisions. See Pla v. State, 602 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (in case 84-9595 the defendant was initially placed on 5-years probation and was sentenced to 3 1/2 years prison followed by 1 1/2 years probation upon a violation; the Second District Court of Appeal found the probation illegally extended beyond the maximum penalty). Although the Fifth District is strongly leaning in its 1992 and 1991 decisions to the Second and First District's viewpoint, the 1989 Ramey case which allowed a true split sentence of 2 1/2 years prison plus 3 1/2 years probation after the defendant had already served 13 months probation on a 5-year offense demonstrates an inconsistency in dealing with prior probationary terms served in lieu of the statutory maximum. The Third District has clearly gone the other way in <u>Quincutti v. State</u>, 540 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

In coming to its decision that once probation is violated, the game starts anew, the <u>Quincutti</u> court cites not only to section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes (1987), but also to <u>Poore v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 531 So. 2d 161 at 164 (Fla. 1988). When this Court refers to the trial court's right to impose any sentence upon a violation of probation it could have originally imposed, it is obvious that this Court refers to "sentence" as a prison term:

> If the defendant violates his probation in alternative (3), (4) and (5), section 948.06-(1) and <u>Pearce</u> permit the sentencing judge to impose <u>any sentence</u> he or she originally might have imposed, <u>with credit for time served and</u> <u>subject to the guidelines recommendation</u>.

Poore, 531 So. 2d at 164. (Emphasis added.)

We stress, however, that the cumulative incarceration imposed after violation of probation always will be subject to any limitations imposed by the sentencing guidelines recommendation. We reject any suggestion that the guidelines do not limit the cumulative prison term of any split sentence upon a violation of probation. To the contrary, the guidelines manifestly are intended to apply to any incarceration imposed after their effective date, whether characterized as a resentencing or revocation of probation.

Id. at 165. (Emphasis added.) The same can be said for this Court's reference to "sentence" in <u>State v. Holmes</u>, 360 So. 2d 380 at 383 (Fla. 1978). In allowing a trial court to impose any "sentence" which might have been originally imposed upon a violation of probation minus jail time previously served but without credit for probation time, obviously this Court was thinking of a "sentence" as a period of incarceration. <u>See</u> also <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 545 So. 2d 851 (Fla. 1989). Since case law has clearly defined "sentence" as a period of incarceration as opposed to probation and probation has been held <u>not</u> to be a sentence (a concept the State agrees with at page 8 of its brief) in <u>Villery v.</u>

Florida Parole and Probation Com'n., 396 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 1981), a clear reading of § 948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (1987), which allows for the imposition of any sentence a trial court might have originally imposed upon a violation of probation is a reference to a prison sentence - not a reimposition of probation. As Villery points out, this is consistent with the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure and Florida Statutes which prohibit the pronouncement and imposition of a <u>sentence</u> upon a defendant placed on probation. Probation is a sentencing alternative, but it is not a sentence. Thus, when the statute is referring to any sentence that might have been originally imposed, it is clearly not referring to probation. The State's interpretation of reimposing a probationary term to the statutory maximum without credit for any prior time spent on probation as a "sentence" that could have been originally imposed is in direct contradiction to its claim that probation is not a sentence. If a trial court is going to reject "sentencing" a defendant who has violated probation and is going to continue to allow a defendant a 'state of grace' by re-imposing probation, it has to do so with the statutory maximums in mind and give the defendant credit for prior time served on probation; for statutory maximums do apply to probationary periods. Conrey v. State, 624 So. 2d 793 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); Blackburn; Watts v. State, 328 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). See also State v. Holmes, 360 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1978).

If this Court believes the statute of § 948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (1987), is not clear on its face, then this Court must resort to rules of statutory construction in interpreting what this statute

means. The first rule applicable is that the legislative intent is the pole star; "this intent must be given effect even though it may appear to contradict the strict letter of the statute and wellsettled cannons of construction." <u>State v. Sullivan</u>, 95 Fla. 191 at 207, 116 So. 255 at 261 (1928). As further explained in <u>Wakulla</u> <u>County v. Davis</u>, 395 So. 2d 540 at 542 (Fla. 1981):

> In determining our pole star, legislative intent, we are not to analyze the statute in question by itself, as if in a vacuum; we must also account for other variables. Thus, it is an accepted maxim of statutory construction that a law should be construed together and in harmony with any other statute relating to the same purpose, even though the statutes were not enacted at the same time. <u>Garner v. Ward</u>, 251 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1971).

This concept of regarding closely allied statutory subjects in pari materia was more recently reiterated in <u>Scates v. State</u>, 603 So. 2d 504 at 506 (Fla. 1992).

The next rule in interpreting ambiguous statutes is the law favors a rational, sensible construction; and courts are to avoid an interpretation which would produce unreasonable consequences. <u>Wakulla County v. Davis</u>, 395 So. 2d 540 at 543 (Fla. 1981); <u>State</u> <u>v. Webb</u>, 398 So. 2d 820 at 824 (Fla. 1981); <u>Catron v. Roger Bohn</u>, <u>D.C., P.A.</u>, 580 So. 2d 814 at 818 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

Last but not least, "where criminal statutes are susceptible to differing constructions, they must be construed in favor of the accused." <u>Scates</u>, 603 So. 2d at 505.

Putting all of these rules together in this situation, the following can be concluded: Inasmuch as the legislature has set forth statutory maximums for criminal cases which have been held applicable to probationary terms, a common sense conclusion is that probation cannot be re-imposed <u>ad infinitum</u> beyond the statutory maximum each time probation is revoked. To allow a trial court to extend probation <u>ad infinitum</u> would be an unreasonable, unsensible result. It would also be an interpretation least favorable to the accused. A defendant should be allowed all credit for previous time served on probation for as long as probation is re-instated. If credit is not allowed, then the legislature's intent of statutory maximums is being circumvented. <u>See Tripp v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1993) (guidelines could be easily circumvented if trial court could impose guidelines on one count and probation on another and then not give credit for time served on the probation count when probation is later violated).

The Hon. Judge Schoonover, in the dissenting portion of the <u>Summers</u> decision, clearly believes that reimposing probation <u>ad</u> <u>infinitum</u> beyond the statutory maximum is not an absurd result and points to three other states that have allowed the concept. The first thing that must be noted about other jurisdictions on this issue is that the issue is purely a matter of statutory construction based on the wording of each jurisdiction's statute. For example, the California case mentioned by Judge Schoonover of <u>In re</u> <u>Hamm</u>, 133 Cal. App. 3d 60, 183 Cal. Rptr. 626 (Cal. Ct. App. 1982), dealt with specific statutory language that clearly allowed the reimposition of "probation" as if starting from the very beginning after a violation:

"If an order setting aside the judgment, the revocation of probation, or both is made after

the expiration of the probationary period, the court may again place the person on probation for such period and with such terms and conditions as it could have done immediately following conviction."

In re Hamm, 183 Ca. Rptr. at 627, citing Penal Code § 1203.2(e) (emphasis added.) The Court, however, did not just look at the statutory language in a vacuum; it examined other statutes in the area. In particular, the Court looked at how a different interpretation would affect misdemeanants as opposed to felons. A different interpretation other than allowing the re-imposing of probation beyond the statutory maximum would, under California law, result in felons being treated differently than misdemeanants to the misdemeanants' detriment. Such statutory problems are not present in Florida.

And if some jurisdictions do allow probation to be imposed <u>ad</u> <u>infinitum</u> under their particular statutory scheme, other jurisdictions do not. The federal system, which has a 5-year cap on probation, has apparently been strictly interpreting that cap. <u>See</u> <u>United States v. Undaneta</u>, 771 F. Supp. 28 (E.D. N.Y. 1991), and cases cited therein.

Other concerns were raised by Judge Schoonover and echoed by the State. Restitution was a major concern. Apparently, both the State and Judge Schoonover would like probationary terms extended <u>ad infinitum</u> in order to allow restitution to be paid back. The gist of this argument is that the defendant may be a good probationer but unable to make full restitution within the statutory limits. This Court has already given us the answer. If a

defendant cannot make full restitution due to an inability to pay, then his probation cannot be revoked and extended in the absence of a wilful violation. Hewett v. State, 613 So. 2d 1305 (Fla. 1993). See also Kolovrat v. State, 574 So. 2d 294 at 296 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); Laing v. State, 622 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). If, on the other hand, a defendant is 'wilfully' not making restitution payments, then he knows he faces revocation and imprisonment. That is the recourse society has against a defendant who has received the benefit of the court's mercy by being placed on probation but subsequently violates that trust. Either the probationer is making an effort to rehabilitate himself or he is not. The concept of the poor unfortunate probationer who must go to prison through no fault of his own does not exist. For society's victims who are not able to receive full restitution during the limited period of statutory maximum sentences from probationers who lack the ability to pay, there are alternatives. As this Court pointed out in <u>Hewett</u>, a judgment can be entered against the defendant with the hope that someday the defendant's circumstances will change.

The concern that a defendant needs to be continuously reinstated on probation and that probation must have no limits so as to obtain a goal of rehabilitation while not rewarding the errant probationer is rather an inconsistent argument for the State to make. If a probationer is continuously violating his probation, rehabilitation is not occurring. More probation <u>ad infinitum</u> would appear to be defeating the goal of probation which is rehabilitation. The fact that both the defendant and the Court knows the

ultimate consequence of failing to successfully live on probation is prison, this knowledge gives the incentive needed for the probationer to avoid violating his probation and a recourse for society if rehabilitation fails. After a certain point, continuing on with probation makes no sense. That point is the statutory maximum.

As for the State's desire to keep as many people out of the prison system as possible due to a lack of space, that is a problem that affects the State as a whole and will continue to do so because of many factors such as money, habitual offender sentences, and minimum mandatories. That problem cannot, however, be used as the polestar to determine statutory language as to the maximum length of probation terms. Probation is a creature of legislation, not of public policy. Legislatively, statutory maximums apply to probation, and extending probationary terms beyond that statutory maximum <u>ad infinitum</u> is not within legislative intent.

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